Case 1:23-cv-00948 ECF No. 1, PagelD.1 Filed 09/07/23 Page 1 of 14

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION

JULIE A. SU, Acting Secretary of Labor,
United States Department of Labor,

Plaintiff,

V. Civil Action No.: 1:23-cv-948

SPARTY TACOS, LLC;

a Michigan corporation;

TC TACOS, LLC, a Michigan corporation;

GR TACOS, LLC, a Michigan corporation; and,
JACOB HAWLEY, an individual,

Defendants.
COMPLAINT

Pursuant to Section 217 of the Fair Labor Standards Act, of 1938, as amended (29 U.S.C.
§ 201 et seq.) (“FLSA” or “the Act”), Plaintiff, JULIE A. SU, Acting Secretary of Labor, United
States Department of Labor (“Secretary’), brings this action to enjoin and restrain the
Defendants SPARTY TACOS, LLC, a Michigan corporation; TC TACOS, LLC, a Michigan
corporation; GR TACOS, LLC, a Michigan corporation; and, JACOB HAWLEY, an
individual (collectively, “Defendants”) from violating Sections 203(m)(2)(B), 206, 207, 211,
215(a)(2) and 215(a)(5) of the FLSA and to recover unlawfully kept tips and unpaid minimum
wages and overtime wages, plus an equal amount in liquidated damages pursuant to Section
216(c) of the Act for Defendants’ employees.

Defendant Hawley owns and controls three Mexican restaurants throughout west and
mid-Michigan—Sparty Tacos, LLC; TC Tacos, LLC; and GR Tacos, LLC—and he operates each

under the name “Barrio Tacos.” For at least two years, Defendant Hawley and his restaurants
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maintained an unlawful tip pooling scheme, in which they would take tips from servers and
bartenders and redistribute those tips to kitchen staff, in violation of the FLSA’s requirements.
The Act prohibits requiring employees who customarily and regularly receive tips (like servers)
to turn over those tips to other employees who do not ordinarily receive tips. 29 U.S.C.

§ 203(m)(2)(B); see also 29 C.F.R. § 531.50. In violating the ban on unlawful tip sharing,
Defendants deprived their employees of lawfully earned tips, while also failing to pay their
workers minimum wages and proper overtime wages. Defendants also failed to keep proper
records of their employee compensation.

Thus, the Secretary now seeks to hold Defendants liable for their violations of the FLSA
and to recover unlawfully kept tips, unpaid minimum wages, and unpaid overtime compensation,
plus an equal amount in liquidated damages for Defendants’ workers. The Secretary also seeks a
permanent injunction against Defendants prohibiting them from further violations of the FLSA.

Jurisdiction and Venue

1. This Court has jurisdiction of this case. 29 U.S.C. §§ 216(c), 217 and 28 U.S.C.
§ 1345.

2. This Court is the proper venue because all or a substantial part of the events or
omissions giving rise to these allegations occurred in this judicial district.

The Parties

3. Plaintiff JULIE A. SU, Acting Secretary of Labor, United States Department of
Labor, is vested with the authority to file suit to restrain violations of the FLSA and to recover
withheld tips, back wages, and liquidated damages, and is the proper plaintiff for this action.

4. Defendant Sparty Tacos, LLC (“Sparty Tacos™) is a Michigan corporation within
this Court’s jurisdiction with a restaurant location at 202 Albert St., East Lansing, Michigan
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48823 in Ingham County, Michigan, where it engaged in operating a restaurant and related types
of activities. Sparty Tacos conducts business as Barrio Tacos.

5. Defendant TC Tacos, LLC (“TC Tacos”) is a Michigan corporation within this
Court’s jurisdiction with a restaurant location at 305 W. Front St., Traverse City, Michigan 49684
in Grand Traverse County, Michigan, where it engaged in operating a restaurant and related types
of activities. TC Tacos also conducts business as Barrio Tacos.

6. Defendant GR Tacos, LLC (“GR Tacos™) is a Michigan corporation within this
Court’s jurisdiction with a restaurant location at 37 Ottawa Ave NW Grand Rapids, MI 49503 in
Kent County, Michigan, where it engaged in operating a restaurant and related types of activities.
GR Tacos also conducts business as Barrio Tacos.

7. Defendant Jacob Hawley is an individual and owner of Sparty Tacos, TC Tacos,
and GR Tacos (collectively, “BARRIO TACOS”). He actively manages and controls the daily
operations and the employees working at BARRIO TACOS. Among other things, Defendant
Hawley instituted policies at BARRIO TACOS regarding pay practices, made management
decisions regarding pay and tip pooling, and has the authority to hire and fire employees of
BARRIO TACOS.

8. At all times relevant, Defendant Jacob Hawley is and was engaged in business
within this judicial district, acting directly or indirectly in the interest of BARRIO TACOS with
respect to BARRIO TACOS’ employees, and is therefore an “employer” under the Act. 29

U.S.C. § 203(d).
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The Act Applies to Defendants

0. At all relevant times, BARRIO TACOS is and was an “enterprise” under the Act
due to its related activities performed through unified operation or common control and for a
common business purpose. 29 U.S.C. § 203(r).

10. BARRIO TACOS is an “enterprise engaged in commerce” under the Act because
it had (i) two or more employees who are engaged in or produced goods for commerce; and (ii)
an annual gross volume of sales or business done greater than $500,000 during the Investigation
Period. 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1)(A).

FLSA Violations

11. The Secretary, through the Wage and Hour Division, conducted an investigation
of Defendants for compliance with the FLSA. The Secretary’s investigation reviewed
Defendants’ employment and pay practices from October 11, 2020, through October 10, 2022
(the “Investigation Period”). Unless stated otherwise, all allegations and conditions described
herein pertain to the Investigation Period.?

12. Defendants violated Sections 203(m)(2)(B), 206, 207, 211, 215(a)(2) and
215(a)(5) of the FLSA when they unlawfully kept a portion of employees’ tips, failed to pay their
employees at least $7.25 per hour, failed to pay all overtime compensation due to employees, and

failed to keep records as required by the Act.

1 If Defendants continued to violate the FLSA after the Investigation Period, then the allegations and conditions of
pay and employment disclosed are incorporated herein by reference and Defendants may owe additional back wages
and liquidated damages to employees.
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Defendants Kept Employees’ Tips in Violation of Section 203(m)(2)(B) of the FLSA

13. Section 203(m) requires that all tips received by tipped employees must be
retained by them except for a tip pooling arrangement limited to employees who “customarily
and regularly receive tips” 29 U.S.C. §§ 203(m)(2)(B); see also 29 C.F.R. §§ 531.54(c);
531.59(b).

14. Defendant Jacob Hawley implemented and enforced an invalid tip pool at each
location of BARRIO TACOS. He required all tipped employees, as defined in Section 3(t) of
the Act, to relinquish a percentage of cash and credit card tips from each shift to managers, who
would then distribute the pooled tips among employees of BARRIO TACOS, including non-
tipped employees working in the kitchen, in contravention of Section 203(m) of the Act.

15. Defendants improperly kept employees’ tips by taking tips from tipped employees
and unlawfully redistributing them to nontipped employees.

16. Therefore, Defendants’ tipped employees are entitled to recover the money they
were forced to contribute to the invalid tip pool. 29 U.S.C. § 203(m)(2)(b). An employer who
violates section 203(m)(2)(B) is liable for the amount the tip credit taken by the employer and all
unlawfully kept tips, as well as an equal amount of liquidated damages.

Defendants Failed to Pay Employees the FLSA Minimum Wage

17. Defendants violated the provisions of Sections 206 and 215(a)(2) of the Act by
failing to pay at all three restaurants, as set forth in Paragraphs 13 to 15 above, the required
minimum wage under the Act.

18. Because the tip pool violated the Act, Defendants were not permitted to take a tip
credit toward their FLSA minimum wage obligations. As a result, Defendants failed to pay tipped
employees at all three restaurants the minimum wage required by Section 206 of the Act.
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Defendants Failed to Pay Employees the Required FLSA Overtime Premium

19. Defendants violated the provisions of Sections 207 and 215(a)(2) of the Act by
employing employees for workweeks longer than 40 hours without compensating said
employees for hours worked in excess of forty in a workweek at rates not less than one and one-
half times the regular rate at which they were employed.

20. The invalid tip credit caused Defendants to fail to pay tipped employees at all
three restaurants their proper rates when calculating overtime compensation due under Section
207 of the Act.

21. Additionally, Defendants failed to include the tips that were wrongly diverted to
kitchen staff as part of the regular rate for kitchen staff when calculating overtime premiums
owed for weeks where such employees worked more than forty hours. As a result, Defendants
failed to pay kitchen staff proper overtime compensation due under Section 207 of the Act.

Defendants Failed to Maintain Records Required by the FLSA

22. Defendants violated the provisions of Sections 11(c) and 15(a)(5) of the FLSA
when they failed to make, keep, and preserve adequate and accurate records as prescribed by
regulations duly issued pursuant to authority granted in the Act and found in 29 C.F.R. 516.

23. Specifically, Defendants failed to keep adequate and accurate records of the
regular hourly pay, hours worked each workday and each workweek, total daily and weekly
straight time earnings, and total premium pay for overtime for employees working as servers,

bartenders, and kitchen staff.
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Remedies Sought

24. As a result of their FLSA violations, Defendants owe the employees listed in
Exhibit A back wages and liquidated damages, under 29 U.S.C. §§ 216(c) and 217.

25. If Defendants violated the FLSA either before or after the Investigation Period,
then any such evidence of conditions of pay and employment related to those violations are
incorporated herein by reference, and Defendants may owe additional back wages and liquidated
damages to its employees.

26. Defendants may also owe additional back wages and liquidated damages to
employees whose identities are presently unknown to the Secretary to properly compensate them
for time worked.

COUNT ONE
Violations of Section 203(m)(2)(B) of the FLSA—Emplovers Retaining Tips

27. The Secretary incorporates by reference and re-alleges all of the foregoing
allegations of this Complaint.

28. Since October 11, 2020, Defendants violated Section 203(m)(2)(B) of the FLSA
by requiring tipped employees to participate in an invalid tip pool in which Defendants
unlawfully kept tips for a purpose other than to distribute to employees who customarily and
regularly receive tips within the meaning of Section 203(t) of the FLSA. Because Defendants
unlawfully kept employees’ tips, they violated Section 203(m)(2)(B) of the Act.

29. Therefore, Defendants are liable for the sum of any tip credit taken by the
employer, all tips unlawfully kept from certain employees listed in the attached Exhibit A, and an

equal amount of liquidated damages under Section 216(c) of the FLSA.
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30. A judgment that enjoins and restrains such violations and includes the restraint of
any withholding of payment of improperly kept tips found by the Court to be due to current and
former employees under the Act is expressly authorized by Section 217 of the FLSA.

COUNT TWO
Violations of Sections 206 and 215(a)(2) of the FLSA—Failure to Pay Minimum Wage

31. The Secretary incorporates by reference and re-alleges all of the foregoing
allegations of this Complaint.

32.  Defendants have violated the provisions of Sections 206 and 215(a)(2) of the
FLSA by paying tipped employees’ wages at rates less than the applicable minimum wage under
the FLSA.

33, Since October 11, 2020, Defendants violated the provisions of Sections 206 and
215(a)(2) by including kitchen staff employees in the tip pool when they are not customarily or
regularly tipped employees, thereby invalidating the tip credit.

34. Therefore, Defendants are liable for minimum wage compensation owed to
certain of the employees listed in the attached Exhibit A and an equal amount of liquidated
damages under Section 216(c) of the FLSA.

35. A judgment that enjoins and restrains such violations and includes the restraint of
any withholding of payment of minimum wages found by the Court to be due to current and
former employees under the Act is expressly authorized by Section 217 of the FLSA.

COUNT THREE
Violations of Sections 207 and 215(a)(2) of the FLSA—Failure to Pay Overtime

36. The Secretary incorporates by reference and re-alleges all of the foregoing

allegations of this Complaint.
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37. Defendants violated the provisions of Section 207 and 215(a)(2) of the FLSA by
employing employees for workweeks longer than 40 hours without compensating them at rates
not less than one and one-half times the regular rates at which those employees were employed
for hours worked in excess of 40 hours in such workweeks.

38. Therefore, Defendants are liable for overtime compensation owed to certain of the
employees listed in the attached Exhibit A and an equal amount of liquidated damages under
Section 216(c) of the FLSA.

39. A judgment that enjoins and restrains such violations and includes the restraint of
any withholding of payment of overtime wages found by the Court to be due to current and
former employees under the Act is expressly authorized by Section 217 of the FLSA.

COUNT FOUR

Violations of Sections 211(¢) and 215(a)(5) of the FLSA—
Failure to Make and Keep Records

40. The Secretary incorporates by reference and re-alleges all of the foregoing
allegations of this Complaint.

41. Defendants failed to keep true and accurate records of the wage paid to and hours
worked by each of their non-exempt employees in violation of Section 211 of the FLSA and the

regulations thereunder, specifically 29 C.F.R. § 516.
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Prayer for Relief

As a result of Defendants’ FLSA violations, the Secretary respectfully requests this Court
enter judgment against Defendants as follows:

A. Permanently enjoining and restraining Defendants, their officers, agents, servants,
employees, and those in active concert or participation with them, from violating Sections
203(m)(2)(B), 206, 207, 211, 215(a)(2) and 215(a)(5) of the FLSA. 29 U.S.C. § 217(a).

B. Finding Defendants liable for tips taken, unpaid minimum wages, unpaid
overtime wages, plus an equal amount in liquidated damages, owing to the employees listed in
Exhibit A, as well as to other of Defendants’ employees not yet known to the Secretary.

29 U.S.C. §§ 203, 215(a)(2) and 216(c).

C. If the Court declines to award liquidated damages, then enjoining and restraining
Defendants, their officers, agents, employees, and those persons in active concert or participation
with Defendants, from withholding unpaid compensation found owing to Defendants’
employees, and awarding prejudgment interest computed at the underpayment rate established by

the Secretary of the Treasury under 26 U.S.C. § 6621.

D. Providing such other relief as may be necessary and appropriate.
E. Awarding costs and granting such other and further relief as may be necessary and
appropriate.
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Dated: September 7, 2023

Office of the Solicitor
U.S. Department of Labor
230 S. Dearborn St., Room 844
Chicago, IL 60604
Tel.: (312) 353-1218
(312) 596-5437
Email: jenkins.haley.r@dol.gov
wenzloff.aaron.p@dol.gov

Respectfully submitted,

SEEMA NANDA
Solicitor of Labor

CHRISTINE Z. HERI
Regional Solicitor

/s/ Haley R. Jenkins
HALEY R. JENKINS
Trial Attorney

AARON P. WENZLOFF
Trial Attorney (Admission Pending)

Attorneys for Plaintiff Julie A. Su,
Acting Secretary of Labor,
United States Department of Labor

/s/ Kalen H. Pruss

KALEN H. PRUSS

Assistant United States Attorney
P.O. Box 208

Grand Rapids, M1 49501-0208
(616) 456-2404
Kalen.Pruss@usdoj.gov

Local Counsel for Plaintiff
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